IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT Case No. 2010-CA-00741 CIVIL

THE ESTATE OF HENRY C. GIBSON, BY AND THROUGH DON R. GIBSON, ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE ESTATE OF HENRY C. GIBSON, AND ON BEHALF OF AND FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF HENRY C. GIBSON

Appellant/Cross -Appellee

v.

MAGNLOIA HEALTHCARE, INC.; FOUNDATION HEALTH SERVICES, INC.; UNIDENTIFIED ENTITIES 1 THROUGH 10 AND JOHN DOES 1 THROUGH 10 (AS TO ARNOLD AVENUE NURSING HOME)

> Appellees/Cross-Appellants

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

HONORABLE BETTY W. SANDERS, CIRCUIT JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Statement of the Issues

1. Whether the lower court erred in declining to submit the issue of punitive damages to the jury pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-65?

2. Whether the statutory caps on non-economic damages set forth in Miss.

Code Ann § 11-1-60 (2) are unconstitutional?

Statement Regarding Oral Argument

Appellant requests that oral argument be granted. This case turns on a clear understanding of the record and applicable jurisprudence involving the constitutionality of Miss Code Ann. § 11-1-60 (2). A thorough discussion of the record and constitutional provisions with the Court will be beneficial in explaining the Appellant's position on the important issues raised.

Statement of the Case

Nature of the Case

The instant case is a nursing-home abuse-and-neglect case. Appellant is the administrator of the estate of Henry C. Gibson representing the estate and Mr. Gibson's wrongful death beneficiaries (hereinafter collectively the "Estate"). Appellees are the owners and operators of Arnold Avenue Nursing Home where Mr. Gibson resided and incurred injuries resulting in his death (hereinafter collectively "Magnolia").

The instant appeal arises after a Mississippi jury awarded compensatory damages in favor of the Appellant after an eleven-day trial. This appeal questions the lower court's subsequent dismissal of the Estate's claim for punitive damages with prejudice and determination that the conduct of Magnolia was not sufficiently egregious or offensive to allow the case to be submitted to the jury on the question of punitive damages. As will be set forth in detail below, reversal of the lower court's dismissal with prejudice of the Estate's claim for punitive damages is in order.

After the jury's award of compensatory damages, the lower court reduced the award for non-economic damages pursuant to the statutory limitations set forth in Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-1-60(2)(a). The instant appeal examines the constitutionality of this statutory cap on non-economic damages. As will be set forth in detail below, the cap on non-economic damages violates the Estate's rights under the Mississippi Constitution, necessitating the reinstatement of the jury's verdict in its full amount.

Course of the Proceedings Below

The Estate filed its complaint against Magnolia on August 25, 2004, alleging negligence, medical malpractice, malice and/or gross negligence, fraud, and breach of

fiduciary duty, seeking compensatory and punitive damages for survival and wrongful death claims. (R. 3-33)¹. Following the usual pretrial course, the trial of this matter commenced on August 31, 2009, and ended on September 10, 2009.

Mr. Gibson was totally dependent upon Magnolia for every aspect of his care for he was frail of both body and mind. (T. 178; 247; 252). Because of his frailty, he was forced to endure mistreatment and pain while he suffered from: a significant fractured right humerus caused by a severe fall and/or drop that was not timely treated and ignored for several weeks; hemothrax that caused respiratory problems; severe dehydration and malnutrition leading to kidney failure; contractures; the development of several infected pressure sores requiring painful debridements; significant weight loss; and several falls causing injuries and bruising during his approximate two-year residency at Arnold Avenue Nursing Home. (T. 178 –206; 419-423; 458 – 511; 542; 686-749)

During the trial, the Estate presented evidence demonstrating that there existed a pattern of short-staffing at the nursing home directly affecting the staff's ability to provide Mr. Gibson with proper care and forcing him to live in deplorable conditions. (T. 247 – 257; 304-320). The evidence further demonstrated that the nursing home repeatedly lacked the basic supplies necessary to provide Mr. Gibson with proper care. (T. 305-306). The nursing home lacked even the most basic supplies for Mr. Gibson's hygiene such as towels, pads, and soap. *Id*. The Estate also presented evidence of fraudulent documentation by the nursing home staff in completing residents' charts; a practice that was mandated by Magnolia in order for staff to receive paychecks. (T. 256-289; 294 –

¹ References to the record are denoted as R.____. References to the excerpts of the record are denoted as R.E. ____. References to the transcript of the proceedings are denoted as T. ___.

296). There was evidence that the staff allowed Mr. Gibson to suffer from a broken bone after a fall for four to six weeks without treatment, documentation, or acknowledgement. (T. 692 – 696). This same traumatic event caused a condition known as hemothorax which is a collection of blood and fluid around the lungs. The hemothorax injury also went undocumented, untreated, and unacknowledged for weeks. (T. 706-707).

Finally, the Estate's counsel presented the lower court with a survey conducted by the State of Mississippi in November 2001, during Mr. Gibson's residency, citing the nursing home for the very deficiencies and injuries that plagued Mr. Gibson. (T. 1752 – 1758; R. 1592-1597). As such, Magnolia had notice and knowledge that residents were repeatedly suffering at the nursing home but did nothing to remedy the situation. Instead, Magnolia turned a blind eye to the injustices that this elderly and frail man had to endure in order to avoid responsibility and increase profits.

At the close of the case for liability, Magnolia moved for a directed verdict which was denied by the lower court. (T. 1582 -1590). Thereafter, the jury returned a verdict for the Estate in the amount of \$1,500,000.00, including \$75,000.00 for permanent disfigurement. (T.1744; 1751 - 1752). Following the procedural requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-65, the lower court commenced an evidentiary hearing to determine whether the trier of fact might consider punitive damages. (T. 1752-1774; R.E. 3; R. 1402-1404). The Estate argued that, in light of the evidence presented, a reasonable hypothetical trier of fact could find gross disregard for Mr. Gibson's rights (T. 1752-1759). Disagreeing with the Estate's position, the lower court denied the Estate's request for submission to the jury for consideration of punitive damages. (T. 1771 - 1776; R.E. 3, 5; R. 1402-1404).

On October 9, 2009, the lower court entered a Final Judgment reducing the

damages awarded by the jury from \$1,500,000.00 to the sum of \$575,000.00, consisting of \$500,000.00 for non-economic damages and \$75,000.00 for permanent disfigurement, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-60. (R. 1405-1407; R.E. 2).

On October 26, 2009, Magnolia moved for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict as to which the Estate filed a response and Magnolia filed a rebuttal. (R. 1408-1459). The lower court heard oral arguments in support of the motion on January 10, 2010. On April 1, 2010, the lower court entered an Order denying Magnolia's Motions for Directed Verdict finding that "the jury's verdict was supported by substantial evidence, and their verdict must stand." (R.1469-1470; R. E. 4).

On April 29, 2010, the Estate filed a Notice of Appeal challenging the lower court's denial of submission to the jury on the issue of punitive damages and challenging the constitutionality of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-65 pursuant to which the lower court reduced the non-economic damages awarded by the jury. (R. 1471 – 1480). Subsequently, on May 3, 2010, Magnolia filed a Notice of Appeal challenging the lower court's order denying their Motions for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, the Final Judgment, and the lower court's denial of their Motions for Directed Verdict as to Plaintiff's claims. (R. 1431 – 1505).

Statement of Facts

On June 11, 2001, Henry Gibson suffered a stroke leaving his right side weak and affecting his ability to communicate and swallow. (T. 177 -178). His family was told that he needed rehabilitation at a skilled nursing facility prior to returning home. (T. 178). As a result, Mr. Gibson was admitted to Arnold Avenue Nursing Home. Henry C. Gibson was a resident of Arnold Avenue Nursing Home, a skilled nursing facility owned, operated, and managed by Magnolia from June 2001, until his death on January 26,

2003. (R. 3 – 33). During his residency, Mr. Gibson suffered severe and painful injuries including: a significant fractured right humerus caused by a severe fall and/or drop that was not timely treated and ignored for several weeks; hemothrax that caused respiratory problems; severe dehydration and malnutrition leading to kidney failure; contractures; the development of several infected pressure sores requiring painful debridements; significant weight loss; and several falls causing injuries and bruising; all of which significantly contributed and/or caused Mr. Gibson's death. (T. 178-206; 419; 686-749). Additionally, Mr. Gibson was forced to live in deplorable conditions and was not even provided with basic care such as hygiene and sanitary care. (T. 249, 252).

At the time of his admission, Mr. Gibson required total care and was completely dependent upon Magnolia and its employees for every aspect of his care due to a recent stroke causing left sided weakness. (T. 247; 252). He required assistance with: eating, drinking, toileting, bathing, and moving from one place to another. Mr. Gibson was not able to do these things for himself. This much is without dispute in this case.

What is also clear is that sufficient staff was required to provide the care that Mr. Gibson needed. The record reveals, however, that sufficient staff was not provided by Magnolia, despite Magnolia being on notice of the short-staffing problems prevalent at the nursing home. (T.247-257; 304-320). Caregivers from various shifts and various time periods testified in this case. *Id.* These caregivers uniformly testified that they could not perform their duties in the nursing home because they had more residents to care for than they had time to provide the care. The result was that residents were not fed, not provided with water, not turned and repositioned when they were immobile, not cleaned after a period of incontinence until brown rings of dried urine and feces formed on their sheets and bodies, and not given range-of-motion exercises to prevent

contractures. Id.

These same caregivers testified that Mr. Gibson suffered from these same effects of lack of staff. For example, Jacqueline Rollins, a certified nursing assistant that provided care to Mr. Gibson, testified that "many times" the nursing home was "short of staff." (T. 247 - 248). As such, Ms. Rollins was "not able to make rounds every two hours" and could not "provide the care for the patient that they would normally have." (T. 248). It was during these rounds that the aides would ensure the residents had water and ice, would reposition them to avoid skin breakdown, provide snacks, and check vitals. (T. 246). Due to shortage of staff, Ms. Rollins was only able to make two rounds per shift; this meant that Mr. Gibson was not turned or repositioned nor checked on two times per shift. (T. 248-249). Ms. Rollins testified that when they were short of staff, she did not have the time to clean a patient like he should have been cleaned. (T. 249). For instance, although Mr. Gibson's bed would repeatedly be drenched in milk resulting from his PEG tube being pulled out by his roommate, she would only have time to change the linens and not actually clean Mr. Gibson when he soiled himself. (T. 249; 252). Because she was only able to perform two rounds per shift because of staffing conditions, Ms. Rollins was not able to provide Mr. Gibson with the care that he needed. (T. 254). The nursing home was so short-staffed that Ms. Rollins had to help other staff members when caring for other residents, despite not recording the care in the chart, a practice known as floating. (T. 255 - 256). The only time the facility was fully staffed was during the evaluations by the State of Mississippi surveyors. (T. 257). Ms. Rollins testified that her supervisors were on notice of the short-staffing but the situation never improved. (T.258-259).

Ms. Rollins also testified that the odor of feces was so overwhelming that it hit you upon entrance and occurred as a result of failing to keep the residents clean and changed, and that she had informed the LPN in charge that Mr. Gibson's PEG tube was repeatedly pulled out by his roommate affecting Mr. Gibson's nutrition, and she regularly noticed that his bed rails were down when he had already been identified as a fall risk requiring them to be up. (T. 250 – 256). Finally, Ms. Rollins confirmed the fraudulent documentation prevalent within the nursing home. Ms. Rollins was specifically instructed by her supervisor to fill out papers indicating that she provided care to a resident even though she had not. (T. 258 – 289). Additionally, employees would sign for other employees in the nursing home chart if they had not done so. (T. 294 – 296).

Viola Bryant, another certified nursing assistant that provided care to Mr. Gibson during his residency, confirmed the problems of short-staffing at the nursing home. (T. 304). The short-staffing affected her ability to provide good care to Mr. Gibson (T. 305). There were times when she would find Mr. Gibson wet and dirty because of the short-staffing. (T. 307). Ms. Bryant also testified that the nursing home did not have sufficient supplies, such as pads, towels, soap, or powder, making it difficult for her to provide the care that Mr. Gibson needed. (T. 305 – 306). She also reported these staffing issues to her supervisor. (T. 306 - 307). But these issues were not resolved. (T. 306). "[W]orking short-staffed, . . . you didn't have enough time to get around to everybody in a timely manner." (T. 306). The short-staffing affected Ms. Bryant's ability to provide Mr. Gibson with adequate and appropriate health care. (T. 308). She had to help other employees because of the shortage. (T. 319). In fact, Ms. Bryant left her employment at the nursing home because "they were short all the time and there wasn't enough workers." (T. 319 - 320).

What is also beyond dispute is that failing to clean a resident's skin, turn and reposition him, and to provide him with sufficient nutrients and adequate liquids causes skin breakdown. Failing to provide food results in malnutrition. Failing to provide water results in dehydration. Failing to perform range-of-motion exercises causes contractures in an immobile resident. Failing to implement fall precautions for a fall-risk resident certainly provides the opportunity for a resident to fall and fracture bones. Henry C. Gibson suffered from each of these injuries.

Evidence of Magnolia's failures, however, was not limited to these caregivers. Testimony from the Estate's expert, Dr. Leonard Williams M.D., identified and established six areas where Magnolia breached the standard of care relating to Mr. Gibson. Those areas include: nutrition, hydration, skin care, range of motion, falls, and infections. A brief examination of each is useful.

As for nutrition and hydration, Dr. Williams testified that Magnolia failed to meet Mr. Gibson's basic needs. (T. 715 – 716; 728 - 731). This failure resulted in a drastic weight loss, dehydration resulting in renal failure and an overall breaking down of his system. It denied his body the nutrients and liquids necessary to prevent skin breakdown and to ward off infection. (T.715 – 717; 728 - 729). "[H]is dehydration was the fault of the staff at the nursing home because they had the duty to provide him with appropriate fluids to sustain life and well-being. And he had a feeding tube, so there wasn't any difficulty with getting the fluid into Mr. Gibson. It was a matter of just giving it to him." (T. 716). According to Dr. Williams, Mr. Gibson became malnourished "because the [staff] didn't give him the nutrition he needed." (T. 740 – 742; 745). This failure is particularly difficult to understand given that Mr. Gibson was fed through a tube

for much of his residency. (T. 716). According to multiple experts, Mr. Gibson would not have become dehydrated or malnourished had Magnolia's staff provided him with the hydration and nutrition that he required. (T. 716; 729). The Estate's nursing expert, Cynthia Clevenger, R.N., shared Dr. Williams' opinions. (T.419-423; 419 -459).

Dr. Williams also opined that the nursing staff failed to provide appropriate care and assessment to prevent Mr. Gibson from developing painful pressure sores. The nursing staff failed in their responsibility to turn and reposition Mr. Gibson. As a result, he developed several infected pressure sores. (T. 731 – 733; 738 – 739; 746). The sores resulted, quite simply, from poor nutrition and hydration, failing to turn and reposition Mr. Gibson and failing to clean his body after periods of incontinence. Some required debridement. (T. 476 – 490; 732 – 739). With respect to the prevention of pressure sores, Magnolia failed to follow their own care plans, policies and procedures, and violated state and federal regulations. (T. 450-497; 542 – 547). Mr. Gibson's own caregivers testified that due to short-staffing they were unable to turn and reposition him in a timely fashion. (T.247 – 259; 304 – 320). Needless to say, Mr. Gibson suffered excruciating pain as a result. The Estate's nursing expert, Cynthia Clevenger, R.N., shared Dr. Williams' opinions. (T.460 - 491).

Similar evidence was presented with respect to contractures. (T. 492 - 511; 739 – 740). Contractures occur when the limbs contract from lack of use. They are prevented by performing simple range of motion exercises with residents. These exercises were not adequately preformed for Mr. Gibson causing him to contract into a fetal position. (T. 492 - 511; 739 – 740). Notably, Magnolia did not offer any evidence at trial to contradict the Estate's experts on this issue.

Finally, there was Mr. Gibson's fractured right humerus, a significant bone fracture, and hemothorax that caused him respiratory problems. The evidence was undisputed that Mr. Gibson could not get out of bed without assistance. (T.513). The evidence was also undisputed that the side-rails on Mr. Gibson's bed should be up at all times, and that Mr. Gibson's side-rails were left down previously. (T. 250-256; 512).

Dr. Leonard Williams also agreed with the radiologist that significant trauma caused Mr. Gibson's fractured arm. (T. 686 - 714). Dr. Williams opined that the hemothorax sustained by Mr. Gibson was caused by the same severe trauma that had caused the fractured arm. (T. 686; 694). The medical testimony and records introduced at trial presented overwhelming evidence that Mr. Gibson sustained these injuries during a window of time where he was in no other place except Arnold Avenue Nursing Home. (T. 696 - 697; 728).

Dr. Williams testified that the lack of calcification present in the X-ray of Mr. Gibson's arm taken when he arrived at the hospital meant that the fracture occurred within four (4) to six (6) weeks of December 31, 2002. (T. 692 - 696). Given the lack of swelling or bruising on Mr. Gibson's arm when he arrived at the hospital and prior to the X-ray, the traumatic event that caused the fracture did not occur at or on the way to the hospital, but was at least two (2) weeks old and at most six (6) weeks old. (T. 692 – 696). In the midst of this timeframe, on November 22, 2002, a nursing document identified swelling to Mr. Gibson's right hand and fingers, and also noted he did not extend his arm. (T.687). There was no investigation by the nursing staff to determine the source of this injury. (T. 687 - 688).

The testimony and records demonstrate that Mr. Gibson also suffered from the hemthorax for some time, at least several weeks, (T. 706 - 707), once again, placing

the timing of the trauma at the Magnolia facility. Dr. Williams testified that, more likely than not, both of the injuries were due to significant trauma, such as a fall or being dropped to the floor, and that the injuries were sustained at the nursing home. (T. 686). Whether Mr. Gibson was dropped by the staff or the side-rails were left down (as Mr. Gibson could not get out of bed unassisted), Magnolia was negligent. (T. 716).

According to medical records, Dr. Gamble was also of the opinion that Mr. Gibson suffered from a traumatic episode at Arnold Avenue Nursing Home that resulted in a spiral fracture of his right humerus and hemothorax. (T. 711).

Therefore, the evidence presented at trial provided the jury with a substantial basis to find that Magnolia's negligence caused or significantly contributed to Henry C. Gibson's injuries and death. (T. 740 – 742; 745). Moreover, the Estate's nurse expert opined:

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