IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

THE ESTATE OF HENRY C. GIBSON, BY AND THROUGH DON R. GIBSON, ADMINISTRATOR FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE ESTATE OF HENRY C. GIBSON, AND ON BEHALF OF AND FOR THE USE AND BENEFIT OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF HENRY C. GIBSON

Plaintiffs-Appellants/Cross Appellees

Supreme Court No. 2010-CA-00741

VS.

Washington County Circuit Court No. CI 2004-195

MAGNOLIA HEALTHCARE, INC.; FOUNDATION HEALTH SERVICES, INC.;

Defendants- Appellees/Cross Appellants

BRIEF OF MAGNOLIA HEALTHCARE, INC. AND FOUNDATION HEALTH SERVICES, INC.

Michael A. Heilman (MSB Northead)
Christopher T. Graham (MSB Northead)
Justin M. Starling (MSD)

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

3. Plaintiffs' Conclusory, Generalized Evidence Concerning Short Staffing Lacked Any Evidentiary Support

Plaintiffs' generalized evidence regarding staffing and supplies came from two former CNAs. These two former CNAs, however, charted on Mr. Gibson very few times. One of them, Ms. Bryant, was only employed at Arnold Avenue for three months during Mr. Gibson's stay and only cared for Mr. Gibson one time. (Tr. 309:15; 314:21-25; 315:18-25; 316:13-28). Jacqueline Rollins only charted as having provided care to Mr. Gibson a few days during the months she actually charted on Mr. Gibson. (Tr. 273:11-19; 274:12-22; 280:29 – 281:22; 282:24 – 284:4; 284:8-22; 284:25 – 285:13; 285:16-25). The two CNAs never reported abuse or neglect to Arnold Avenue administration, the Department of Health, or the Department of Nursing. (Tr. 267:5-15). These CNAs never saw another nurse or CNA abuse Mr. Gibson. (Tr. 311:20-23).

The trial judge had ample evidence before her concerning the care provided by Arnold Avenue employees. (Tr. 1181:28-29). Arnold Avenue always had sufficient staffing, and supplies were readily available. (Tr. 1152:15; 1159:28 – 1160:2; 1287:1-7). Nurse Myles testified that if the facility had not been able to care for the patients she would not have stayed for eighteen years. (Tr. 1153:1-9). She stated because she was older than some of her residents, she was easily able to put herself in the residents' position. (Tr. 1153:1-9).

4. Plaintiffs Failed To Establish The Nursing Home Breached The Standard Of Care Concerning Any Feeding Tube Dislocation

Plaintiffs' also baldy allege Mr. Gibson's roommate pulled out Mr. Gibson's feeding tube. See Appellant's Brief at p. 7. In reality, Arnold Avenue recognized that Mr. Gibson had a problem with pulling his tube and addressed it in his care plan. (Tr. 602: 9-11). Nurse Myles explained that the feeding tube actually always stayed in Mr. Gibson but he would occasionally

disconnect his feeding tube from the PEG tube. (Tr. 1193:17 – 1194:4; 1159:13-21). She also explained that Mr. Gibson's roommate was a sweet young man named Larry who suffered from hydrocephalus and there was never any report of Larry pulling out Mr. Gibson's feeding tube. (Tr. 1216:1-19; 1195:3-11). Similarly, Nurse Munson testified Mr. Gibson would occasionally pull on his tube. (Tr. 1286: 16-29). Plaintiffs' expert nurse admitted the standard of care would not be breached if a patient pulls out his feeding tube and the patient is disconnected for a significant amount of time because residents are not provided continuous observation. (Tr. 600: 15-27).

5. Mr. Gibson's Physician and Dietitian Closely Monitored and Controlled His Nutrition and Hydration Levels

Plaintiffs make the audacious statement that Mr. Gibson was not fed or given water. Appellant's Brief at p. 11. Again, the evidence does not support the Plaintiffs' allegations. When Mr. Gibson arrived at Arnold Avenue, he was malnourished. (Tr. 1392:17-20). Mr. Gibson's treating physician and dietitian monitored and regulated Mr. Gibson's nutrition. Mr. Gibson's physician and dietitian relied on his prealbumin levels to evaluate his nutrition, and they were initially low. (Tr. 1392:17-20; 806:9-13; 807:28 – 808:2). Throughout Mr. Gibson's stay at Arnold Avenue, the physician and dietitian monitored and adjusted his nutrition sources in response to his albumin levels which continuously improved after admission to the nursing home. (Tr. 993:20-25).

The evidence at trial demonstrated Mr. Gibson's underlying medical conditions had a great effect on his hydration status. Mr. Gibson suffered from chronic renal insufficiency, and his kidneys had not been functioning at a normal level for an extended period of time. (Tr. 998:12-13; 823:6-10; 819:24 – 820:4). Mr. Gibson also suffered from gastrointestinal ("GI") bleeds, which caused him to be anemic and volume depleted. (Tr. 1001:17-24; 764:23-25). It is undisputed that Mr. Gibson's GI bleed was not caused by Arnold Avenue. (Tr. 1427:23-26).

Mr. Gibson also suffered from congestive heart failure, and his treating physician remained cognizant of Mr. Gibson's congestive heart failure when planning his hydration.

Medical care providers must be cautious when providing fluids to a patient with congestive heart failure. (Tr. 1000:18-28; 1000:18-28; 719:21-29; 828:11-26). For Mr. Gibson's healthcare providers, proper hydration was a constant balancing act. (Tr. 992:2-3).

On November 21, 2001, the Mississippi Department of Health completed one of its surveys of Arnold Avenue. [R.E. 22]. In this survey, thirteen residents were examined and the surveyors concluded that there were deficiencies with three of the thirteen residents regarding hydration. No deficiencies were found for ten of the thirteen residents. While courts may look to prior conduct to assist in establishing punitive damages, the conduct at issue in Mr. Gibson's case, however, must be so typical of the defendant's prior conduct that it raises an inference of intentional conduct.. H.L. Dawkins, Jr. v. Redd Pest Control Co., Inc., 607 So. 2d 1232, 1236 (Miss. 1992).

Plaintiffs assert that the survey "demonstrates that Magnolia was on notice of residents suffering from the very same injuries that Mr. Gibson suffered." Appellant's Brief at p. 12. This is not the case. This survey relates to residents facing circumstances completely different that those faced by Mr. Gibson. One of the three residents was "at risk for dehydration due to the use of diuretic medication and the frequent refusal of fluid." Another one of the residents exhibited partial loss of voluntary movement which limited the ability of the resident's ability to obtain fluids for him/her self. Mr. Gibson was on a feeding tube; therefore, he could not refuse fluids and did not face any issue with obtaining fluid for himself. The third other resident was at risk for dehydration due to daily use of Lasix, but the survey does not explain the resident's circumstances. The survey did not cite any deficiencies with residents on feeding tubes. The survey did not conclude that the facility was short staffed.

Unlike the survey submitted by the Plaintiffs, Defendants submitted findings from the Mississippi State Department of Health ("DOH") that specifically addressed Mr. Gibson. [R.E. 23]. DOH launched an investigation in response to allegations surrounding Mr. Gibson. The DOH investigation arose out of the alleged incidents at issue in this case. The investigation report concluded the allegations could not be substantiated. Furthermore, the investigation report notes "no deficiencies were cited." These findings were issued by an entity whose job it is to identify and investigate complaints.

6. The Nursing Home Established a Care Plan Addressing Mr. Gibson's Risk Factors, Including Risk for Falls

Plaintiffs also allege Arnold Avenue did not take fall precautions to help ensure the safety of Mr. Gibson. See Appellant's Brief at p. 17. The evidence at trial actually revealed the opposite to be true. At the beginning of Mr. Gibson's stay, Arnold Avenue created a care plan which addressed falls. Unfortunately, on November 24, 2001, Mr. Gibson fell out of his bed, and in response, Arnold Avenue launched an investigation and developed a new care plan. (Tr. 1116:21-28). Plaintiffs' expert nurse admitted Arnold Avenue's response to the fall was good. (Tr. 514:16 – 515:12). Some six months later, Mr. Gibson fell again, but on this occasion, the latch on the side rail malfunctioned. Arnold Avenue provided Mr. Gibson a new bed, and he did not experience any more falls. (Tr. 603:3-15). Mr. Gibson did not suffer any injuries as a result of these two falls. (Tr. 603:3-12)

7. Plaintiffs Presented No Proof That Mr. Gibson Suffered Pain For 39 Days as a Result of a Fractured Arm or Hemothorax

Plaintiffs allege Mr. Gibson suffered agonizing pain from November 22, 2002, until he went to the hospital on December 31, 2002. See Appellant's Brief at p.13. The evidence, however, demonstrated many people came in contact with Mr. Gibson between November 22, 2002, and the time he left Arnold Avenue, and not a single person, including numerous

individuals unaffiliated with the nursing home, noticed him suffering from pain. Plaintiff's claims concerning the fractured arm and hemothorax are without any basis in the record as has been previously briefed by Defendants.

8. Mr. Gibson's Contractures Improved and Were Mild Upon His Discharge from the Nursing Home

Plaintiffs also distort the evidence by claiming Arnold Avenue caused Mr. Gibson to contract into the fetal position. See Appellant's Brief at p. 9. Mr. Gibson was at a greater risk of developing contractures because he had suffered a stroke. (Tr. 507:20-27). It is also undisputed that Mr. Gibson's treating physician closely monitored his contractures, discontinued occupational therapy, and chose not to order physical therapy. (Tr. 511:14-24; 610: 13-17; 854:28 – 855:14; 855:15-17). Under care by Arnold Avenue, Mr. Gibson's contractures improved. (Tr. 614:14-21). Plaintiffs' claims are without merit.

I. PLAINTIFFS WAIVED THE RIGHT TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF § 11-1-60

For the first time on appeal, Plaintiffs contend that Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-60 violates Plaintiffs' Constitutional rights to a jury trial and the separation of powers clause. Arguments not raised with the trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Hemmingway v. State, 483 So. 2d 1335, 1337 (Miss. 1986); Debrow v. State, 972 So. 2d 550, 553 (Miss. 2007); and Pickens v. Donaldson,748 So.2d 684 (Miss. 1999).

Plaintiffs' constitutional claims are also barred because they failed to notify the Attorney General's Office of the planned challenge. See Pickens,748 So.2d 684. Furthermore, Rule 24(d) of the Miss. R. of Civ. P. and Rule 44(a) of the M.R.A.P. require that proper notice be given to the Attorney General when the constitutionality of a statute is challenged to afford him an opportunity to intervene and argue the question of constitutionality.

Plaintiffs' failure to raise the issue of the constitutionality of § 11-1-60 at trial or to notify the Attorney General's Office of their challenge to the statute results in the procedural bar on this issue. Pickens, 748 So.2d at 691-692; Barnes v. Singing River Hosp. Sys., 733 So. 2d 199, 202-203 (Miss. 1999).

J. MISSISSIPPI'S STATUTORY CAP ON NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES DOES NOT VIOLATE PLAINTIFF'S RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OR THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE

A constitutional challenge to a state statute "is not sustainable unless the case is so clear as to be free from doubt." Moor v. Texas & N.O.R. Co., 75 F.2d 386, 389 (5th Cir. 1935). "[T]he burden is on the party challenging the constitutionality of a statute to demonstrate beyond all reasonable doubt that the legislation is unconstitutional." Bond v. Marion County Bd. of Supervisors, 807 So. 2d 1208, 1220 (Miss. 2001). The legislation under review must be found "in palpable conflict with some plain provision of the constitution." State v. Mississippi Ass'n of Supervisors, 699 So. 2d 1221, 1223 (Miss. 1997).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized for more than a century that the jury's authority to measure damages is tempered by the reality that, "'trial by jury' means in court under the forms of law, with a judge presiding to direct the proceedings in conformity with it."

Yazoo & Mississippi Valley R.R. Co. v. Wallace, 43 So. 469, 470-71 (Miss. 1907). "Twelve men in the woods or on a street corner were not imagined." Id. at 471. The "inviolate" right to trial by jury under Article 3, Section 31, in sum, refers to "a jury with power alone to try issues of fact, and not of law." Natchez & S. R.R. Co. v. Crawford, 55 So. 596, 598 (Miss. 1911). Thus, the jury finds the facts giving rise to the judgment, but it is the court that "pronounces the judgment," and that judgment is "the award of the law[.]" Lewis v. Garrett's Adm'rs, 6 Miss. 434, 1861 WL 1864, *15 (Miss. Err. & App. 1841).

To the extent Plaintiffs base their challenge on Section 31 of the Mississippi Constitution, § 11-1-60 operates after the jury has determined the facts of liability and damages, has returned a verdict in favor of a plaintiff, and has awarded an amount that exceeded the noneconomic damages cap. Section 11-1-60 requires the trial court, as a matter of law, to reduce the award of noneconomic damages. The statute does not deprive the jury of its fact-finding duty or a plaintiff of his trial by jury. Section 11-1-60(2) is not in "palpable conflict" with the right to trial by jury under Section 31.

The right to a jury trial is affected not only by the power of the judiciary but also by the power of the legislature. In <u>Walters v. Blackledge</u>, the Mississippi Supreme Court found that the Workers' Compensation Act, which replaced traditional tort actions with a statutory scheme of limited indemnity, did not violate Mississippi's Constitution, including the right to a jury trial. <u>Walters</u>, 71 So. 2d 433 (Miss. 1954).

In <u>Walters</u>, the Court acknowledged "that there is no vested right in any remedy for a tort yet to happen which the Constitution protects. Except as to vested rights, the legislative power exists to change or abolish existing statutory and common-law remedies." <u>Id</u>. at 441. The Court further noted that the constitution "guarantees a trial only in those cases where a jury was necessary according to the principles of common law" and that "there is no vested right in any remedy for torts yet to happen, and except as to vested rights a state legislature has full power to change or to abolish existing <u>common law remedies</u> or methods of procedure." <u>Id</u>. at 446. <u>See also Boyd v. Bulala</u>, 877 F.2d 1191 (4th Cir. 1989) ("If a legislature may completely abolish a cause of action without violating the right of trial by jury, we think it permissibly may limit damages recoverable for a cause of action as well."). The Mississippi Legislature's authority to alter or abolish common-law remedies was central to the Court's determination that the Workers' Compensation Act was constitutional. Id. See also Wells v. Panola County Bd. of Educ., 645 So.

2d 883 (Miss. 1994) (upholding limitation on recoverable damages against school districts in Accident Contingency Act). The Wells court noted that "a constitutional guarantee of a remedy does not mean that recovery must be absolute or that it may be unlimited." Id. at 891-92.

Plaintiffs cite <u>Isom v. Mississippi Cent. R. Co.</u>, 7 George 300, 1858 WL 3114 (Miss. Err. App. 1858), as their sole Mississippi authority in arugment that § 11-1-60 violates the separation of powers clause in the Mississippi Constitution. However, <u>Isom</u> deals with separation of powers in the context of Mississippi's Takings Clause and not in conjunction with a limitation on common law remedies. The Mississippi Supreme Court has traditionally respected the legislature's authority to decide broad tort policy rules. <u>See, e.g., Thomas v. Warden</u>, 999 So. 2d 842 (Miss. 2008) (upholding pre-suit notice requirement in medical malpractice actions); <u>Barnes v. Singing River Hosp. Sys.</u>, 733 So. 2d 199 (Miss. 1999) (upholding one-year statute of limitations of Tort Claims Act); <u>Vortice v. Fordice</u>, 711 So. 2d 894 (Miss. 1998) (upholding notice requirements of the Tort Claims Act); (upholding limitation on school bus accident recoveries); and Walters, 71 So. 2d 433 (upholding Workers' Compensation Law).

The Mississippi Legislature has authority to dictate the legal consequences of a jury's assessment of damages through the enactment of statutory caps on non-economic damages.

VI. CONCLUSION

A. ON DIRECT APPEAL

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants request this Court reverse the trial court's judgment and render judgment in favor of Defendants. Alternatively, Defendant Foundation requests this Court reverse the trial court's judgment and render judgment in its favor because it did not provide any healthcare services to Henry Gibson. Alternatively, Defendants request the Court reverse the trial court's judgment and remand this case for a new trial.

B. AS TO PLAINTIFFS' CROSS-APPEAL

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs' assignments of error are without merit. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding Plaintiffs' proof insufficient to submit the question of punitive damages to the jury. Furthermore, Plaintiffs' constitutional claims concerning § 11-1-60 are procedurally barred. Alternatively, Plaintiffs constitutional claims fail as a matter of law. Defendants respectfully request the Court affirm the decisions of the trial court that have been appealed by Plaintiffs.